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WELLS FARGO CO WFC e
7.50% PERP )
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2019 2020

2019 10 31 147,770,941.31 16,170,574 107.37 11,749
2019 90,311,289.13 9,882,764 100.58 11,006
93,770,589.11 10,261,316 101.59 11,117

101,948,201.08 11,156,192 100.85 11,036

109,419,418.95 11,973,767 103.49 11,325

110,968,419.46 12,143,274 104.31 11,415

117,629,946.63 12,872,245 105.88 11,586

129,224,912.10 14,141,082 106.53 11,658

10 147,770,941.31 16,170,574 107.37 11,749

11 161,663,430.78 17,690,829 107.49 11,763

12 173,507,920.38 18,986,972 108.78 11,904

2020 194,093,278.08 21,239,627 109.81 12,017
202,238,331.04 22,130,941 107.11 11,721
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201; 10 31 97,818,154.86 10,704,241 104.18 11,400
2019 55,026,496.26 6,021,549 99.29 10,865
56,120,552.51 6,141,272 100.03 10,946

60,946,163.70 6,669,339 99.05 10,839

64,799,540.16 7,091,014 101.40 11,096

67,186,820.31 7,352,254 101.95 11,156

73,601,855.11 8,054,251 103.23 11,296

82,897,774.92 9,071,504 103.62 11,339

10 97,818,154.86 10,704,241 104.18 11,400

11 105,733,475.56 11,570,414 104.05 11,386

12 116,530,199.24 12,751,900 105.04 11,495

2020 130,925,790.80 14,327,209 105.79 11,577
137,887,443.88 15,089,023 102.94 11,265
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2018 28 2019 10 3.00 328
2019 11 0.25 27
2019 12 0.25 27
2020 0.25 27
2020 0.25 27
2019 2020 3.00 328
2018 28 2020 4.00 438
2018 28 2019 10
2018 28 2019 10 7.37 7.18

100x +
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2018 28 2019 10 2019 10
1,474,517 78,027 1,396,490
2018 28 1,474,517 78,027 1,396,490
2019 10 990,748 40,043 950,705
990,748 40,043 950,705
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2019 10 31
2019
7,054,700 771,996
223,581,769 y s 235,644,731 25,786,603
14,638,046 1,601,841
109,919 12,028
257,447,396 28,172,469
8,000,000 875,440
118,492 12,967
11 335,363 36,699
8,453,855 925,105
248,993,541 27,247,363
148,999,640 16,305,031
10 1,396,490 152,818
106.70 12
99,993,901 10,942,333
10 950,705 104,036
105.18 12
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2018 28 2019 10 31

2019
12 12,062,962 1,320,050
4,481,773 490,440
16,544,735 1,810,490
11 13 330,979 36,219
11 13 198,587 21,731
11 13 115,849 12,677
11 13 23,786 2,603
11 13 1,158,426 126,767
25,125 2,749
162,891 17,825
2,015,643 220,572
14,529,092 1,589,919
14 (1,778,149) (194,583)
(1,778,149) (194,583)

12,750,943 1,395,336
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2019 10 31
2019
248,275,008 27,168,734
(12,032,410) (1,316,707)
12,750,943 1,395,336

248,993,541 27,247,363
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2018 28 2019 10 31

2019

12,750,943 1,395,336

(215,581,769) (23,591,113)

(12,062,962) (1,320,050)
(109,919) (12,028)
335,363 36,699

(214,668,344) (23,491,157)

233,636,962 25,566,893
(11,913,918) (1,303,740)
221,723,044 24,263,153
7,054,700 771,996
7,054,700 771,996

4,481,773 490,440
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840,745,666 235,644,731

2019 10 31
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2019 10 31
2019
- 7,054,700 - 7,054,700
235,644,731 - - 235,644,731
- 14,638,046 - 14,638,046
- 109,919 - 109,919
235,644,731 21,802,665 - 257,447,396

- - 8,000,000 8,000,000
- - 118,492 118,492
- - 335,363 335,363
- - 248,993,541 248,993,541

- - 257,447,396 257,447,396

96/224



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2019 10 31
2019
- 235,644,731 - 235,644,731
- 235,644,731 - 235,644,731

2019 10 31

97/224



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2019 10 31

98/224



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2019 10 31

2019 10 31
11,782,237

(a
(b

99/224



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2019 10 31

2019 10 31
70,547

100/224



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2019 10 31
2019
7,054,700 - - - 7,054,700
- - - 235,644,731 235,644,731
- - - 14,638,046 14,638,046
- - - 109,919 109,919
7,054,700 - - 250,392,696 257,447,396

- - - 8,000,000 8,000,000

_ _ - 118,492 118,492
) - - 335,363 335,363

_ - - 8,453,855 8,453,855

7,054,700 - -
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2019

7,054,700 - 7,054,700

14,638,046 - 14,638,046
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8,000,000 - 8,000,000

118,492 - 118,492

335,363 - 335,363

8,453,855 - 8,453,855
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22,951
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Meister®s Collection
A Series Trust of Credit Suisse Universal Trust (Cayman) 111

Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 October 2019

2019

Notes USD
Assets
Cash 9 7,054,700
Investment in Selected Fund (Cost: USD223,581,769) 6,7,8 235,644,731
Subscriptions receivable 14,638,046
Other assets 109,919
Total Assets 257,447,396
Liabilities
Payable for purchase of investment in Selected Fund 8,000,000
Repurchases payable 118,492
Other payables 11 335,363
Total Liabilities 8,453,855
Net assets attributable to the holder of redeemable
participating units 248,993,541
Representing:
Capital Growth Type Units
Net assets attributable to the holder of redeemable
participating units USD148,999,640
Number of redeemable participating units outstanding 10 1,396,490
Ne? asset value (* NAV” ) per redeemable participating USD106..70
unit
Monthly Distribution Type Units
Net assets attributable to the holder of redeemable
participating units USD99,993,901
Number of redeemable participating units outstanding 10 950,705

NAV per redeemable participating unit USD105.18

110/224



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Meister®s Collection
A Series Trust of Credit Suisse Universal Trust (Cayman) 111

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the period from 28 September 2018 (commencement of operations) to 31 October 2019

2019

Notes USD
Net income from financials instruments at FVTPL
Net gain on investments 12 12,062,962
Dividend income 4,481,773
Total revenue 16,544,735
Investment Manager fees 11,13 330,979
Fee Agent fees 11,13 198,587
Administration fees 11,13 115,849
Custody fees 11,13 23,786
Distribution fees 11,13 1,158,426
Audit fees 25,125
Other fees and expenses 162,891
Total operating expenses 2,015,643
Operating profit 14,529,092
Finance Costs
D|§tr|but|ons to the holder of redeemable participating 14 (1,778,149)
units
Total Finance Costs (1,778,149)
Change in net assets attributable to the holder of 12,750,943

redeemable participating units

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Meister®s Collection
A Series Trust of Credit Suisse Universal Trust (Cayman) 111

Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to the Holder of Redeemable Participating
Units
For the period from 28 September 2018 (commencement of operations) to 31 October 2019

2019
usb
Net assets attributable to the holder of redeemable _
participating units at start of period
Issue of redeemable participating units 248,275,008
Repurchase of redeemable participating units (12,032,410)
Change in net assets gttrlbgtable to the holder of 12,750,943
redeemable participating units
Net assets attributable to the holder of redeemable 248,993,541

participating units at end of period

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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A Series Trust of Credit Suisse Universal Trust (Cayman) 111

Statement of Cash Flows

For the period from 28 September 2018 (commencement of operations) to 31 October 2019

Operating activities
Change in net assets attributable to the holder of
redeemable participating units

Purchase of investment in Selected Fund

Adjustment for items not involving cash

Net gain on investments

Net change in non-cash operating balances
Increase in other assets

Increase in other payables

Net cash used in operating activities

Financing activities

Proceeds from issue of redeemable participating units
Payments for repurchase of redeemable participating
units

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net change in cash

Cash at beginning of period

Cash at end of period

Supplementary information:

Dividends received

2019
UsD

12,750,943

(215,581,769)

(12,062,962)

(109,919)

335,363

(214,668,344)

233,636,962

(11,913,918)

221,723,044

7,054,700

7,054,700

4,481,773

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Meister®s Collection
A Series Trust of Credit Suisse Universal Trust (Cayman) 111

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 October 2019
(Continued)

GENERAL INFORMATION

Meister®s Collection (For Qualified Institutional Investors only) (the* Series Trust” ) has
been created and established pursuant to the Master Trust Deed for Credit Suisse Universal
Trust (Cayman) 111 (the" Master Trust” ) dated 2 December 2013 and a Supplemental Trust Deed
dated 3 August 2018 (the“ Supplement Trust Deed” and together with the Master Trust Deed,
the" Trust Deed” ).

The Series Trust commenced trading on 28 September 2018 issuing Capital Growth Type Units and
Monthly Distribution Type Units respectively.

The investment objective of the Series Trust is to provide investors with the option of
receiving either current income or capital appreciation by indirectly investing under normal
market conditions mainly in income-producing debt and equity securities including, but not
limited to, corporate bonds, convertible bonds, common stocks and preferred stocks. It is
expected that the Series Trust will seek to achieve its investment objective by investing
substantially all of the assets of the Series Trust into the USD Distribution Class Units of
Nuveen NWQ Flexible Income Fund (the “ Selected Fund” ). The Selected Fund is a series trust
of Global Multi Strategy, an umbrella unit trust established under the laws of the Cayman
Islands (the" Umbrella Trust” ). At 31 October 2019, the Series Trust had a 28.03% holding in
the Selected Fund.

The Series Trust may also hold USD cash and money market securities (including but not
limited to commercial paper, certificates of deposit and government bills).

Sumitomo Mitsui Asset DS Management Company Limited (the* Investment Manager” ) shall have
day-to-day investment decision-making and ongoing monitoring responsibility over the portion
of the Series Trust®"s portfolio comprising the Selected Fund and USD cash and money market
securities (the" Subadvised Portfolio” ).

The Subadvised Portfolio may generate a certain amount of income each month. It is intended
that the portion of such income that is attributable to the Monthly Distribution Type Units
will be distributed to holders of such class of Units on each Distribution Date, as further
described in Note 14.
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Meister®s Collection
A Series Trust of Credit Suisse Universal Trust (Cayman) 111

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 October 2019
(Continued)

GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

The investment objective of the Selected Fund is to seek to provide a high level of income
and attractive risk-adjusted returns by investing in corporate securities across the capital
structure based on the investment manager of the Selected Fund, NWQ Investment Management
Company, LLC"s (the* SF Investment Manager” ) assessment of relative value and risk. The base
currency of the Selected Fund is USD.

In order to pursue its investment objective, the SF Investment Manager employs a rigorous
research-focused investment process that seeks to identify undervalued companies with
positive risk/reward characteristics in selecting investments for the Selected Fund.

The SF Investment Manager®s approach to investing is based upon a bottom-up, fundamental
approach. The team conducts independent research focused on understanding individual
companies as businesses rather than viewing them simply as stocks. Part of the methodology
includes rigorous financial statement evaluation, focusing on balance sheet and cash flow
statement analysis above solely relying upon the income statement, a process they believe
allows for a true understating of a company®s economic profitability, cash flow and return on
capital.

The SF Investment Manager®s investment process focuses on the attractiveness of a particular
security within a company™s capital structure and seeks to invest in securities that it feels
possess the appropriate balance between risk and reward and that represent good value when
compared to other similar securities. The SF Investment Manager may choose to sell securities
or reduce its exposure to a security, including through the use of the financial derivative
instruments described below, if it feels that a company no longer possesses favorable
risk/reward characteristics, attractive valuations or catalysts, if it identifies better
alternatives within a company"s capital structure, or if a company suspends or is projected
to suspend its dividend or interest payments.
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Meister®s Collection
A Series Trust of Credit Suisse Universal Trust (Cayman) 111

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 October 2019
(Continued)

GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

The SF Investment Manager will invest for the account of the Selected Fund in a diversified
portfolio of investments including, but not limited to, debt and equity securities of US or
non-US companies. The debt securities in which the SF Investment Manager invests, for the
account of the Selected Fund, may invest include, but are not limited to, corporate bonds,
mortgage-backed securities, taxable municipal securities, and US Government and agency debt
securities. Preferred securities are securities issued by corporate issuers that generally
pay fixed or adjustable rate distributions to investors and have preference over common
shares in the payment of distributions and the liquidation of a company®s assets, but are
junior to most other forms of a company®s debt, including both senior and subordinated debt.

The SF Investment Manager, for the account of the Selected Fund, may invest without limit in
preferred securities and debt securities that are rated lower than investment grade at the
time of purchase or in unrated securities of comparable quality. These securities may also be
referred to as sub-investment grade securities and generally provide high income in an effort
to compensate investors for their higher risk of default, which is the failure to make
required interest or principal payments. Accordingly, the NAV of the Selected Fund may have a
relatively high level of volatility.

There is no limitation on the average maturity or average effective duration of the
securities held by the Selected Fund.

Normally, the SF Investment Manager, for the account of the Selected Fund, will invest
substantially all of the Selected Fund®s assets to meet its investment objective. To the
extent that the Selected Fund"s assets are not fully invested in accordance with its
investment objective, the SF Investment Manager®s investment decisions may be made on the
basis of short-term market considerations in which case the SF Investment Manager, for the
account of the Selected Fund, may engage in frequent trading of portfolio securities. For
temporary defensive purposes, including during periods of high cash inflows and outflows, the
SF Investment Manager may temporarily deviate from the investment policies and restrictions
of the Selected Fund. During such periods, the Selected Fund may not achieve its investment
objective.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (* IFRS” ) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(* IASB” ), and interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee of the IASB.

The financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (* USD” ) and not the local
currency of the Cayman Islands. The units of the Series Trust are issued and redeemed in Yen
but the Series Trust"s operations are primarily conducted in USD.

The Series Trust has adopted Investment Entities (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12, and IAS 27)
(2012) (the amendments). Management concluded that the Series Trust meets the definition of
an investment entity.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the Trustee to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making
judgements about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised. Judgements made by the Trustee
in the application of IFRS that have a significant effect on the financial statements and
estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next year are discussed in
Notes 7 and 8.
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BASIS OF MEASUREMENT

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the
following material items.

Items Measurement basis

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss ("FVTPL™)

Fair value

Investment in Selected Fund is included in this category.

STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET ADOPTED

A number of new standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 28 September 2018
and earlier application is permitted; however, the Series Trust has not early applied these
new or amended standards in preparing these financial statements.

Of those standards that are not yet effective, none is expected to have a material impact on
the Series Trust"s financial statements in the period of initial application.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies adopted by the Series Trust and consistently applied to
all periods presented in these financial statements are as follows:

Financial assets and financial liabilities

(i) Recognition and initial measurement

The Series Trust initially recognises financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL on
the trade date, which is the date on which the Series Trust becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. Other financial assets and financial liabilities
are recognised on the date on which they are originated.

A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus, for an

item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or
issue.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(i1) Classification and subsequent measurement

Classification of financial assets

On initial recognition, the Series Trust classifies financial assets as measured at amortised
cost or FVTPL.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions
and is not designated as at FVTPL:
it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual
cash flows; and
its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest (“ SPPI” ).

All other financial assets of the Series Trust are measured at FVTPL.

Business model assessment
In making an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is
held, the Series Trust considers all of the relevant information about how the business is
managed, including:
the documented investment strategy and the execution of this strategy in practice. This
includes whether the investment strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income,
maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial
assets to the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising
cash flows through the sale of the assets;
how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Series Trust"s
management;
the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held
within that business model) and how those risks are managed;
how the Investment Manager is compensated: e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair
value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and
the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons
for such sales and expectations about future sales activity.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(i1) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for
derecognition are not considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Series Trust's
continuing recognition of the assets.

Assessment whether contractual cash flows are SPPI

For the purposes of this assessment,“ principal” is defined as the fair value of the
financial asset on initial recognition.“ Interest” is defined as consideration for the time
value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding
during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g.
liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Series Trust considers the

contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset

contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows

such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Series Trust

considers:

- contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;

- leverage features;

- prepayment and extension features;

- terms that limit the Series Trust"s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-
recourse features);

- features that modify consideration of the time value of money (e.g. periodical reset of
interest rates).

For a reconciliation of line items in the Statement of Financial Position to the categories
of financial instruments, as defined by IFRS 9, see Note 6.

Reclassifications

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the
Series Trust were to change its business model for managing financial assets, in which case
all affected financial assets would be reclassified on the first day of the first reporting
period following the change in the business model.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
(i1) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)
Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets at FVTPL

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any
interest or dividend income and expense and foreign exchange gains and losses, are recognised
in profit or loss in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Investment in Selected Fund is included in this category.

The fair value of the investment in the Selected Fund is based on the unaudited NAV per unit
obtained from the Selected Fund®s administrators, which has been assessed as the most
representative measure of fair value as determined by the Investment Manager. Realised and
unrealised gains or losses on the investment in the Selected Fund are included in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Financial assets at amortised cost

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised in
profit or loss.

Cash, subscriptions receivable and other assets are included in this category.

Financial liabilities - Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL.

A financial liability is classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held for trading, it
is a derivative or it is designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at
FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense,
are recognised in profit or loss.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(i1) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.

As at the period ended 31 October 2019, there were no financial liabilities at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost include payable for purchase of investment in
Selected Fund, repurchases payable and other payables.

(iii) Fair value measurement

“ Fair value” 1is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in
the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Series Trust has
access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.

When available, the Series Trust measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted
price in an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions
for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing
information on an ongoing basis. The Series Trust measures instruments quoted in an active
market at a mid-price, because this price provides a reasonable approximation of the exit
price.

IT there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Series Trust uses valuation
techniques that maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of
unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors that
market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction.

The Series Trust recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as at the
end of the reporting period during which the change has occurred.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(iv) Amortised cost measurement

The* amortised cost” of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the
financial asset or financial liability is measured on initial recognition minus the principal
repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of
any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial assets,
adjusted for any loss allowance.

(v) Impairment
The Series Trust recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (* ECLS” ) on
financial assets measured at amortised cost.

The Series Trust measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the
following, which are measured at 12-month ECLs:

financial assets that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and
other financial assets for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the
expected life of the asset) has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Series Trust considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This
includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Series
Trust"s historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking
information.

The Series Trust assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly if it is more than 30 days past due.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
(v) Impairment (continued)
The Series Trust considers a financial asset to be in default when:

the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Series Trust in full, without
recourse by the Series Trust to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or
the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

The Series Trust considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the credit rating
of the counterparty is equivalent to the globally understood definition of “ investment
grade”

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrument. 12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from
default events that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter
period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months). The maximum period
considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Series Trust
is exposed to credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the
entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Series Trust expects to
receive).

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Series Trust assesses whether financial assets carried at
amortised cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset is" credit-impaired’” when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(v) Impairment (continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:
significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
a breach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due; or
it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Presentation of allowance for ECLs in the Statement of Financial Position
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross
carrying amount of the assets.

Write-off
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Series Trust has no
reasonable expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof.

(vi) Derecognition

The Series Trust derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the financial asset expire or it transfers the right to receive the contractual cash
flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of
the financial asset are transferred or in which the Series Trust neither transfers nor
retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control
of the financial asset.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the
asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset that is derecognised) and
the consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed)
is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest in such transferred financial assets that is
created or retained by the Series Trust is recognised as a separate asset or liability.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(vi) Derecognition (continued)

The Series Trust may enter into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its
Statement of Financial Position, but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and
rewards of the transferred assets or a portion of them. If all or substantially all of the
risks and rewards are retained, then the transferred assets are not derecognised. Transfers
of assets with retention of all or substantially all of the risks and rewards include sale
and repurchase transactions.

The Series Trust derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are
discharged or cancelled, or expire.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount
extinguished and the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed) is recognised in profit or loss.

(vii) Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the
Statement of Financial Position when and only when there is a legally enforceable right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. This is generally not the case with master
netting agreements and the related assets and liabilities are presented gross in the
Statement of Financial Position. As at 31 October 2019, the Series Trust does not hold any
financial assets or liabilities subject to master netting arrangements.

Cash

Elian Trustee (Cayman) Limited as Trustee have appointed Sumitomo Mitsui Trust (UK) Limited
as its custodian (the" Custodian” ). Sumitomo Mitsui Trust (UK) Limited have, in turn,
appointed Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. (“ BBH" ) as their sub-custodian (the“ Sub-
Custodian” ). Cash is ultimately held at BBH as the Series Trust"s banker. Cash comprises of
cash held with maturities of 3 months or less with BBH.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment income
Dividend income is recorded gross of any non-reclaimable withholding taxes suffered on an ex-
dividend date basis.

Expenses
Expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis and are recognised in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.

Taxation

Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, there is no income, estate, corporation,
capital gains or other Cayman Islands taxes payable by the Trust. The Trust has received an
undertaking from the Governor in Cabinet of the Cayman Islands that it will be exempt from
such taxes for a period of Fifty years from 2 December 2013 should they be enacted. As a
result, no provision for taxes has been made in the financial statements. The Series Trust
may be subject to foreign withholding taxes on certain interest, dividends and capital gains.

Foreign currencies

Items which are included in the Series Trust"s financial statements, are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which it operates (“'the functional
currency'), which is USD. Investments and other assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into USD amounts at the date of valuation. Purchases and sales of
investments, issue and repurchase of redeemable participating units and income and expense
items denominated in foreign currencies are translated into USD amounts on the respective
dates of such transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated into USD at the exchange rates ruling at the period end date. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies which are stated at fair value, are
translated into USD, at the date the fair value was determined. Realised and unrealised gains
and losses arising from translation, if any, are included in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Redeemable Participating Units

The Redeemable Participating Units sold by the Series Trust are puttable instruments and are
classified as financial liabilities as they do not meet the conditions for equity
classification under the amendments to IAS 32, as there were different classes of Units with
different features in issue throughout the period (Note 10). The NAV per Unit is calculated
by dividing the total Net Assets of the Series Trust attributable to each Unit class by the
number of Units in issue in each respective class. All Units are issued and redeemed at this
price.

Interest in another entity

Interest in another entity is defined for the purpose of IFRS 12 as contractual or non-
contractual involvement that exposes an entity to variability of returns from the performance
of the other entity. It can be evidenced by holding of equity or debt instruments, but also
liquidity support, credit enhancement and guarantees.

The Series Trust has concluded that the unlisted open-ended investment fund in which it
invests, but that it does not consolidate, meets the definition of a structured entity
because:

- the voting rights in the Selected Fund are not dominant rights in deciding who controls
them because the rights relate to administrative tasks only;

- the Selected Fund®s activities are restricted by its offering documents and applicable
appendix; and

- the Selected Fund has narrow and well-defined objectives to provide investment
opportunities to investors.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Interest in another entity (continued)

The table below describes the type of structured entity that the Series Trust does not
consolidate but in which it holds an interest.

Type of structured Nature and purpose Interest held by the

entity Series Trust

Investment Fund To provide a high level of income and Investments in units
attractive risk-adjusted return by issued by the Selected

investing In corporate securities across Fund
the capital structure based on the

Manager®s assessment of relative value and

risk.

The table below sets out interests held by the Series Trust in unconsolidated structured
entities. The Maximum exposure to loss is the carrying amounts of the financial assets held.

Total net assets Carrying amount at

2019 (unaudited) FVTPL
usD usb
Nuveen NWQ Flexible Income Fund 840,745,666 235,644,731

During the period ended 31 October 2019, the Series Trust did not provide additional
financial support to unconsolidated structured entities and has no current obligation to or
intention of providing other financial or other support.
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(Continued)

CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

) Financial Financial
e e o
cost cost
usb usb usb usb
Cash - 7,054,700 - 7,054,700
Financial assets at FVTPL 235,644,731 - - 235,644,731
Subscriptions receivable - 14,638,046 - 14,638,046
Other assets - 109,919 - 109,919
235,644,731 21,802,665 - 257,447,396
Payable for purchase of
investment in Selected - - 8,000,000 8,000,000
Fund
Repurchases payable - - 118,492 118,492
Other payables - - 335,363 335,363

Net Assets attributable to
Holders of Redeemable -
Participating Units

248,993,541 248,993,541

- - 257,447,396 257,447,396

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The table below shows financial instruments recognised at fair value analysed between those
whose fair value is based on:

Level 1: Quoted price (Unadjusted) in an active market for an identical instrument;

Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (i.e. as prices)
or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using:
quoted prices in markets that are considered less than active; or other valuation
techniques for which all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from
market data; and
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7. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Level 3: Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes
all instruments for which the valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable
data and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument®s valuation.
This category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar
instruments for which significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to
reflect differences between the instruments. The Series Trust did not hold any instruments
in this category.

2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

usD usD usD usD
Financial assets at FVTPL

Investment in Selected
Fund

235,644,731 - 235,644,731

- 235,644,731 - 235,644,731

There were no transfers across the three levels during the period ended 31 October 2019.
Financial instruments not measured at FVTPL

The financial instruments not measured at FVTPL include:

Cash, other receivables and other payables. These are short-term financial assets and

financial liabilities whose carrying amounts approximate fair value, because of their short-
term nature.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND ASSOCIATED RISKS

The main risks arising from the Series Trust"s financial instruments can be summarised as
follows:

Market Risk

Market risk arises from uncertainty about future prices of financial investments held. It
represents the potential loss the Series Trust might suffer through holding market positions
in the face of price movements. Market risk comprises three types of risk: price risk,
currency risk and interest rate risk.

In order to pursue the Series Trust"s investment objective, the Manager has committed to
employing a rigorous research-focused investment process that seeks to identify undervalued
companies with positive risk/reward characteristics.

The Series Trust will invest, together with other investors, all, or substantially all of its
assets through a“ master-feeder” structure in the Selected Fund. A “ master-feeder”
structure, in particular the existence of multiple investment vehicles investing in the same
portfolio, presents certain unique risks to investors. Smaller investment vehicles investing
in the Selected Fund may be materially affected by the actions of larger investment vehicles
investing in the Selected Fund. For example, if a larger investment vehicle withdraws from
the Selected Fund, the remaining funds may experience higher pro rata operating expenses,
thereby producing lower returns. Substantial withdrawals of capital by investors in the
Selected Fund, including the Series Trust and any other investors, over a short time period
could necessitate the liquidation of investment positions at a time and in a manner which
does not provide the most economic advantage to the Selected Fund and which therefore could
adversely affect the net asset value of the Selected Fund and hence the NAV of the Series
Trust.

The Investment Manager will invest substantially all of the assets of the Series Trust in the
Selected Fund. The Series Trust will be required to comply with the terms of the Selected
Fund®s offering memoranda and constitutive documents, which may place limits on subscriptions
and repurchases, and additionally the liquidation of the Selected Fund would lead to the
compulsory repurchase of any shares held for the account of the Series Trust which may, in
some cases, lead to compulsory repurchases of Units. Accordingly, the performance of the
Series Trust may not absolutely reflect the performance of the Selected Fund.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND ASSOCIATED RISKS (continued)

Market Risk (continued)

The price of the units of the Selected Fund may fall as well as rise. There can be no
assurance that the Selected Fund will achieve its investment objective or that an investor
will recover the full amount invested in the Selected Fund. Restrictions on investments in
certain jurisdictions may limit the liquidity of the Selected Fund"s investments. The capital
return and income of the Selected Fund is based on the capital appreciation and income on the
investments it holds, less expenses incurred. Therefore, the Selected Fund®s return may be
expected to fluctuate in response to changes in such capital appreciation or income. An
investment in the Selected Fund should be viewed by an investor as a medium to long term
investment.

The Selected Fund is subject to market risk. Market risk is the risk that a particular share,
a fund, an industry, or securities in general may fall in value. The value of investments in
the Selected Fund will go up and down with the prices of securities in which the Selected
Fund invest. The prices of securities change in response to many factors, including the
historical and prospective earnings of the issuer, the value of its assets, management
decisions, demand for an issuer"s products or services, production costs, general economic
conditions, interest rates, currency exchange rates, investor perceptions, geopolitical
factors and market liquidity.

Price Risk

Price risk is the risk that value of the related instruments will fluctuate as a result of
changes in the market prices (other than those arising from currency risk or interest rate
risk), whether caused by factors specific to an individual investment, or its issuer. The
Series Trust is susceptible to price risk that occurs at the Selected Fund, which may include
substantial risks as a result of trading by the Selected Fund of equity securities,
derivative instruments, options and futures, including securities denominated in different
currencies while executing their investment strategy. As the Selected Fund®s investments in
securities, futures contracts and swap are carried at fair value with fair value changes
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, all changes in market conditions will
directly affect the net assets attributable to the Series Trust.
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(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND ASSOCIATED RISKS (continued)

Market Risk (continued)
Price Risk (continued)
As at 31 October 2019, if the price of the Investment in Selected Fund had increased by 5%
with all other variables held constant, there would have been an increase in Net Assets of

USD11,782,237. A decrease by 5% with all other variables held constant, would result in an
equal but opposite effect on Net Assets to the figure shown above.

Currency Risk
Currency risk is the risk that as certain assets of the Series Trust may be invested in

securities and other investments denominated in foreign currencies, the value of such assets
may be affected favourably or unfavourably by fluctuations in currency rates. Although the
Series Trust"s investments are USD denominated, the Series Trust indirectly bears currency
risk on the investment held in the Selected Fund. The Investment Manager will monitor the
portfolio of the Selected Fund.

The class of units held by the Series Trust in the Selected Fund is USD denominated. This
presents certain risks relating to currency conversion if an investor®s financial activities
are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit (including JPY) (the* Investor®s
Currency” ) other than USD. These include the risk that exchange rates may significantly
change (including changes due to devaluation of USD or revaluation of the Investor®s
Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over USD or the Investor®s
Currency, as the case may be, may impose or modify exchange controls. An increase in the
value of the Investor®s Currency against USD would decrease (a) the Investor®s Currency
equivalent value of the NAV of the Selected Fund and net asset value of the Selected Fund per
unit and (b) the Investor®s Currency equivalent value of the distributions payable (if any).

Some of the assets of the Selected Fund may be invested in other currencies and any income
received by the Selected Fund from these investments will be received in those currencies,
some of which may fall in value against the functional currency of the Selected Fund. In
addition, the Selected Fund may invest directly in currency deposits or forward contracts or
equivalent derivatives, in some cases for hedging purposes.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND ASSOCIATED RISKS (continued)
Market Risk (continued)

Currency Risk (continued)
All the financial assets of the Series Trust, are denominated in USD with the effect that the

Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Comprehensive Income will not be
significantly affected by currency movements and as a result, a sensitivity analysis has not
been performed.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk represents the potential loss that the Series Trust might suffer due to
adverse movements in relevant interest rates. Except for cash, which is subject to a floating
interest rate and matures in less than 3 months, the majority of the Series Trust"s other
financial assets and financial liabilities are non-interest bearing. As a result, the Series
Trust is subject to limited exposure to fair value interest rate risk due to fluctuations in
the prevailing levels of market interest rates. However, the Series Trust is exposed to
higher levels of interest rate risk through its investment in the Selected Fund.

Interest rate risk at the Selected Fund level is the risk that the value of the Selected
Fund®s portfolio may decline during periods of rising interest rates. When interest rates
change, the values of longer-duration debt securities are usually subject to greater change
than the values of shorter-duration debt securities. The Selected Fund may be subject to a
greater risk of rising interest rates than would have been the case in past periods due to
the recent environment of near historically low rates, including negative interest rates, and
the effect of potential government fiscal policy initiatives and resulting market reaction to
those initiatives. Due to the Selected Fund®s investment strategy, assets held by the
Selected Fund would see fluctuation based on changes to the market interest rates.

Based on the cash deposits held at 31 October 2019, if the floating USD interest rate curve
increased by 1% for a full year then the effect on Net Assets, with all other variables
remaining constant, would amount to a gain of USD70,547. A decrease by 1% would result in an
equal but opposite effect, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.
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(Continued)

8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND ASSOCIATED RISKS (continued)

Market Risk (continued)
Interest Rate Risk (continued)

The table below summarises the Series Trust"s exposure to interest rate risks. It includes
the Series Trust's assets at fair values, categorised by the earlier of contractual re-
pricing or maturity dates.

Less than 1 Variable Fixed Non-interest
2019 month interest* interest bearing Total
Assets uUsD usD uUsD usD usD
Cash 7,054,700 - - - 7,054,700
Financial assets at
EVTPL - - - 235,644,731 235,644,731
Subscriptions - - - 14,638,046 14,638,046
receivable
Other assets - - - 109,919 109,919
Total assets 7,054,700 - - 250,392,696 257,447,396
Liabilities
Payable for purchase
of investment in - - - 8,000,000 8,000,000
Selected Fund
Repurchases payable - - - 118,492 118,492
Other payables - - - 335,363 335,363

Total liabilities
excluding Net Assets
attributable to
Holders of
Redeemable
Participating Units
Total Interest
Sensitivity Gap

- - - 8,453,855 8,453,855

7,054,700 - - N/A N/A

*Items classified as variable reprice annually or semi-annually at various dates during the
period.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND ASSOCIATED RISKS (continued)

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Series Trust may not be able to settle or meet its
obligations on time or at a reasonable price. The Series Trust is exposed to daily cash
repurchases of Redeemable Participating Units, which can be redeemed at the holder®s option
based on the Series Trust®s NAV per Redeemable Participating Unit at the time of the
repurchase. There are no repurchase restrictions on units of the Series Trust, other than in
the limited circumstances specified in the documentation. The Manager may borrow monies, for
the account of the Series Trust, provided that it will not result in an aggregate outstanding
amount of borrowing in excess of 10% of the NAV.

Redeemable Participating Units may be submitted for repurchase at the option of unitholders
of the Series Trust as at each business day and/or such other day or days as the Manager may
from time to time determine (the "Repurchase Day").

Per the policies of the Selected Fund, the Series Trust is able to redeem their investment in
the Selected Fund on any Repurchase Day (as defined above). As the repurchase policies of
both the Series Trust and Selected Fund are aligned, there is minimal impact on the Series
Trust®s liquidity risk. The Selected Fund®s securities are considered by the SF Investment
Manager to be readily liquid. The Selected Fund®s liquidity risk is managed on a daily basis
by the SF Investment Manager in accordance with policies and procedures in place.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND ASSOCIATED RISKS (continued)

Liquidity Risk (continued)

The table below analyses the Series Trust"s financial assets and liabilities by contractual
maturity as at 31 October 2019:

2019

Assets

Cash

Subscriptions receivable

Total Financial Assets

Liabilities
Payable for purchase of

investment in Selected
Fund

Repurchases payable
Other payables

Total Financial
Liabilities

Over 3

Less than months or no
1 month 1-3 months Ffixed Total

maturity
usD usD usD UsD
7,054,700 - - 7,054,700
14,638,046 - - 14,638,046
21,692,746 - - 21,692,746
8,000,000 - - 8,000,000
118,492 - - 118,492
335,363 - - 335,363
8,453,855 - - 8,453,855
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND ASSOCIATED RISKS (continued)

Credit Risk

The Series Trust may be exposed to the credit risk of the counterparties with which it trades
in relation to non-exchange-traded derivative instruments as these will not be afforded the
same protections as may apply to participants trading such instruments on organised
exchanges, such as the performance guarantee of an exchange clearing house. The counterparty
in a non-exchange-traded derivative transaction will be the specific company or firm involved
in the transaction rather than a recognised exchange, and accordingly the insolvency,
bankruptcy or default of a counterparty with which the Trustee, the Manager and the
Investment Manager trade such instruments in respect of the Series Trust, could result in
substantial losses to the Series Trust. The Trustee, the Manager and the Investment Manager,
in respect of the Series Trust, may have contractual remedies upon any default pursuant to
agreements relating to particular derivatives transactions. Such remedies could be
inadequate, however, to the extent that the collateral or other assets available are
insufficient.

Both the cash and securities are ultimately held at the Sub-Custodian, with cash being held
at the Sub-Custodian as Banker. All of the cash of the Series Trust are held by the Sub-
Custodian at period end. The Sub-Custodian has a Fitch credit rating of A+. The Custodian
(which is responsible for both the Series Trust and Selected Fund) has an Egan-Jones credit
rating of A-. Bankruptcy or insolvency of the Sub-Custodian may cause the Series Trust"s
rights with respect to its investments in debt securities held by the bank to be delayed or
limited.

The Portfolio Managers of the SF Investment Manager continuously monitor the credit
worthiness/risk of the Selected Fund®s investments.

The assets held for the account of the Selected Fund are subject to risks resulting from
changes in the creditworthiness of the underlying investments of the Selected Fund or the
issuer of such investments. This could lead to greater volatility in the prices of the
security and in units of the Selected Fund. For example, an issuer of a bond might not be
able to meet its obligation to make interest and principal payments, or bond investors as a
whole may downgrade their view of the issuer resulting in a deterioration of the price of the
issuer™s debt. In addition, credit opinions from credit rating agencies may weigh on the
credit spreads of the investments made for the account of the Selected Fund.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND ASSOCIATED RISKS (continued)

Credit Risk (continued)

Amounts arising from ECL

Impairment on cash, interest, dividends and other receivables has been measured on a 12-month
expected loss basis and reflects the short maturities of the exposures. The Series Trust
considers that these exposures have low credit risk based on the external credit ratings of
the counterparties.

CASH

Cash comprises of cash held with the Sub-Custodian with original maturities of three months

or less.
2019
usD
Cash 7,054,700
7,054,700

NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE HOLDER OF REDEEMABLE PARTICIPATING UNITS

The Series Trust has two classes of units: Capital Growth Type Units and Monthly Distribution

Type Units.

2019
Capital Growth Type Units
Number of units outstanding as at start of period -
Number of units sold 1,474,517
Number of units redeemed (78,027)
Number of units outstanding as at end of period 1,396,490
Monthly Distribution Type Units
Number of units outstanding as at start of period -
Number of units sold 990,748
Number of units redeemed (40,043)

Number of units outstanding as at end of period 950,705
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10. NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE HOLDER OF REDEEMABLE PARTICIPATING UNITS (continued)

From and including the Initial Closing Day, units of each class of units will be available
for subscription by investors at a price equal to the NAV per Unit of the applicable class of
units on each Dealing Day, subject to the Minimum Subscription. The NAV per Unit for each
class of Units will be calculated as at the relevant Dealing Day (or if that Dealing Day is
not also a Valuation Day the immediately preceding Valuation Day). The minimum subscription
amount s 1 unit and thereafter subscriptions may be made in 1 unit increments. The aggregate
subscription amounts will be rounded naturally to the nearest two decimal places with 0.005
being rounded up. There will be no subscription fee payable.

Investors may subscribe for units of a class of units during the Initial Offer Period by
sending a completed Application Form to the Administrator by no later than 5.00 p.m. (Tokyo
time) on the last day of the Initial Offer Period or by such other times and/or days as the
Manager may in its sole discretion determine.

The subscription monies must be remitted in full by telegraphic transfer from an account in
the name of the applicant for the account of the Series Trust for a cash settlement date on
or before the date falling one Business Day after the Initial Closing Day. Payment must be
made in USD. No third party payments will be accepted. Incomplete Application Forms may, in
the discretion of the Manager, be held over to the first Dealing Day following receipt of a
completed Application Form and units will then be issued at the relevant NAV per Unit on such
Dealing Day.

Investors may make a repurchase request to the Administrator on each dealing day which is
also a day on which no Series Trust disruption event occurs and/or such other day or days as
the Manager may from time to time determine in respect of the Series Trust in respect of
Units of a class of Units for which subscription proceeds have been received by the
Administrator. The Repurchase Notice once served is irrevocable, unless the Manager, after
consultation with the Trustee, determines otherwise. The repurchase price per unit of a class
of units will be calculated as the NAV per unit of such class of units as at the relevant
Repurchase Day (or if that Repurchase Day is not also a Valuation Day then on the immediately
preceding Valuation Day). The Manager may, in its sole discretion, hold over any Repurchase
Notice received after the Repurchase Notice Deadline until the next following Repurchase Day
and repurchase the relevant units at the relevant Repurchase Price applicable to such class
of units on that Repurchase Day.
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11. FEES AND EXPENSES

The Series Trust"s fees payable as at 31 October 2019 are as follows:

2019

usD

Investment Manager fees 38,251
Fee Agent fees 22,951
Administration fees 13,395
Custody fee 3,816
Distribution fees 133,880
Audit fees 25,125
Other fees and expenses 97,945
335,363

Investment Manager Fees
The Investment Manager receives out of the assets of the Series Trust, a fee payable

guarterly in arrears at the rate of 0.2% per annum of the NAV.

Fee Agent Fees
The Fee Agent receives, out of the assets of the Series Trust, a fee payable quarterly in

arrears at the rate of 0.12% per annum of the NAV, calculated on each valuation day.

The Fee Agent is responsible for payment of the Trustee and Manager fees. The Fee Agent will
also cover all costs and expenses pertaining to the Trustee and Manager fees including sundry
expenses.

The Trustee receives a fixed annual fee of USD10,000 per annum payable annually in advance
out of the Fee Agent Fees. The Trustee is also entitled to be reimbursed out of the Fee Agent
Fees for all out-of-pocket expenses properly incurred by it in the performance of its duties.

The Manager receives out of the Fee Agent Fees a management fee of USD5,000 per annum payable
monthly in arrears.
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11. FEES AND EXPENSES (continued)

Administration Fees

The Administrator receives out of the assets of the Series Trust, a monthly fee of 0.07% per
annum of the NAV on the first USD500 million, 0.06% per annum of the NAV on the next USD500
million and 0.05% per annum of the NAV after USD1,000 million.

All of the Administrator®s fees are subject to additions in relation to value added tax (if
any). In addition, the Trustee pays, out of the assets of the Series Trust, the
Administrator™s reasonable out-of-pocket expenses for photocopying, fax, telephone, printing,
courier, postage and other communications charges, as well as for any banking costs and the
fees or charges of any government or official department, body or organisation, and any other
similar expenses, costs, fees or charges paid by the Administrator on behalf of the Series
Trust in connection with the performance of its services for the Series Trust.

Custody Fees
The Custodian receives out of the assets of the Series Trust, a fee payable monthly in

arrears at the rate of 0.025% per annum of the NAV, calculated on each valuation day.
The Custodian also receives out of the assets of the Series Trust, any other fees agreed
between the relevant parties and is reimbursed out of the assets of the Series Trust for all

out-of-pocket expenses properly incurred by it in the performance of its duties.

Distribution Fees

The Distributor receives out the Series Trust, a fee on a monthly basis at the rate of 0.7%
per annum of the NAV, calculated on each valuation day.
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FEES AND EXPENSES (continued)

Fees of the Selected Fund
As the Series Trust intends to invest substantially all of its assets in the Selected Fund,

the Series Trust will indirectly bear the costs and fees applicable to the Selected Fund.
These fees will reduce the NAV attributable to holders of redeemable participating units of
the Selected Fund, which will affect the value of the Investment in Selected Fund presented
in the Statement of Financial Position of the Series Trust. The total fees of the Selected
Fund are approximately 0.55% of the assets under management of the Selected Fund per annum
subject to change of certain fixed fees. More details regarding the breakdown of specific
fees paid within the Selected Fund are available in the Offering Documents of the Series
Trust.

NET GAIN ON INVESTMENTS

2019
UsD

Net gain on investments consists of the following
Movement in unrealised gain on financial assets at fair value through 12,062,962

profit or loss

Net gain on investments 12,062,962
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control or exercise
significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. The
Trustee, Manager, Investment Manager, Fee Agent, Administrator, Custodian and Distributor are
deemed to be related parties of the Series Trust. The Trustee is a related party by virtue of
its power to create the Trust under the Deed of Establishment. The Manager is a related party
by virtue of its power to issue units under the Deed of Establishment and by virtue of common
ownership by the ultimate parent company, Credit Suisse Group AG. The Investment Manager is a
related parties by virtue of their power to make investment decisions. The Fee Agent is a
related party by virtue of its ability to exercise significant influence as it provides
calculation agency services to the Series Trust. The Fee Agent information is detailed in
Note 11. The Distributor, Administrator and Custodian are related parties by virtue of their
affiliation with the Investment Manager. There were no transactions with related parties
other than those in the normal course of business. Fees incurred with related parties during
the period are disclosed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and discussed in Note 11.
Amounts charged by and payable to related parties as at 31 October 2019 are disclosed in Note
11.

DISTRIBUTION POLICY

The Series Trust may generate a certain amount of income each month. The current distribution
policy of the Series Trust is:

(i) in respect of the Capital Growth Type Units, to pay no distribution; and

(i1) in respect of the Monthly Distribution Type Units, pay to holders of such class of Units
a monthly distribution (a“ Monthly Distribution” ) in respect of each Distribution Date
paid out of the investment principal (a realisation of units in the Selected Fund) which
may also be in excess of any capital gain and attributable to the Monthly Distribution
Type Units in respect of the corresponding Distribution Period.
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DISTRIBUTION POLICY (continued)

The amount of distribution to be paid in respect of each Distribution Date shall be
determined by the Manager in its sole discretion taking into account (1) realized and
unrealised capital gains from the Selected Fund, and (2) miscellaneous costs, among other
factors, per Unit each month.

Furthermore, it is also important for investors to note that the Manager may, in
circumstances where it deems appropriate, elect that a Monthly Distribution is not payable in
respect of Monthly Distribution Type Units for a relevant month, notwithstanding its option
to use the investment principal attributable to the Monthly Distribution Type Units.
Circumstances where the Manager may make such an election, include but are not limited to
where it determines in its sole discretion that application of the Series Trust"s investment
objectives and policies have generated a negative performance over the previous month or have
underperformed to the extent that the Manager deems it appropriate to make such an election.

Any Monthly Distribution declared will be paid (net of any taxes payable in respect of such
distribution) on the corresponding Distribution Date. Distributions will be made to the
person in whose name Monthly Distribution Type Units are registered on the register of
Unitholders on the relevant Distribution Record Day. Such distributions will be rounded
naturally to two decimal places with 0.005 being rounded up.

Distributions paid during the period ended 31 October 2019 amounted to USD1,778,149.

POST STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION EVENTS

Subsequent to 31 October 2019, there were repurchases of USD11,186,626 from the Series Trust
and there were subscriptions of USD105,498,603 into the Series Trust.

As of 28 February 2020, there were no other events subsequent to the period end, which
require disclosure in the financial statements.
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2018 12 31

2018
9 786,902 86,111
6,7,8 164,365,179 17,986,482
28,733,154 3,144,269
10 2,179,368 238,488
196,064,603 21,455,350
6,7,8 148,738 16,276
11 5,679,111 621,465
5,827,849 637,742
190,236,754 20,817,608

2019
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2018 12 31
2018

5 511,130 55,933
5 23,593 2,582
5 1,286,298 140,760
283,102 30,980
13 (8,142,864) (891,074)
(6,038,741) (660,819)
14 3,200 350
14 160,021 17,511
14 12,802 1,401
14 27,572 3,017
14 742 81
14 345 38
27,370 2,995
8,860 970
7,048 771
247,960 27,134
(6,286,701) (687,954)
5 (354) (39)
17 (746,499) (81,689)
(746,853) (81,728)
(7,033,554) (769,682)
5 (147,530) (16,144)
(7,181,084) (785,826)
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19 2018 12 31
2018
214,948,858 23,521,854
(17,531,020) (1,918,420)
(7,181,084) (785,826)
190,236,754 20,817,608
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2018 19 2018 12 31

2018
(7.181,084) (785,826)
746,853 81,728
(164,365,179) (17,986, 482)
(2,179,368) (238, 488)
148,738 16,276
5,679,111 621,465
(167,150,929) (18,291,326)
214,948,858 23,521,854
(28,733,154) (3,144,269)
(17,531,020) (1,918,420)
(354) (39)
(746,499) (81,689)
167,937,831 18,377,437
786,902 86,111
786,902 86,111
274,232 30,009
(655, 650) (71,748)
23,593 2,582
(354) (39)
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2020

347,223,560 37,996,674,171
7,097,785 776,710,613
340,125,775 37,219,963,558

1,888,120

1,339,479
107.11 11,721
102.94 11,265
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2020

221,533,746

29,095,400

3,676,124,984

171,065,201

34 340,262,007,751
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2018 12 31
22
38 59 131

23 103

2020 28
109.43
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2018 12 31

2018 2017

USD USD
22,534 2,466 11,246 1,231
22,534 2,466 11,246 1,231
4 22,534 2,466 11,246 1,231
5 205,000 22,433 190,000 20,792
8 1 41 4
227,542 24,900 201,287 22,027
6 (121,067)  (13,248)  (111,931)  (12,249)
106,475 11,652 89,356 9,778
106,475 11,652 89,356 9,778
7 - - - -
106,475 11,652 89,356 9,778

15
2018 IFRS 15

18
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2018 12 31

2018 2017

usD UsD
9 1,213,367 132,779 1,016,181 111,201
10 206,873 22,638 299,223 32,744
1,420,240 155,417 1,315,404 143,945
10 3,735 409 5,374 588
3,735 409 5,374 588
11 735,000 80,431 735,000 80,431
681,505 74,577 575,030 62,926
1,416,505 155,008 1,310,030 143,357
1,420,240 155,417 1,315,404 143,945

15
2018 IFRS 15 9

N o S\

18
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2018 12 31
usb usD usD
2018
2018
2018 735,000 80,431 575,030 62,926 1,310,030 143,357
- - 106,475 11,652 106,475 11,652
2018 12 31 735,000 80,431 681,505 74,577 1,416,505 155,008
2017
2017
2017 735,000 80,431 485,674 53,147 1,220,674 133,578
- - 89,356 9,778 89,356 9,778
2017 12 31 735,000 80,431 575,030 62,926 1,310,030 143,357

18
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2018 12 31
2018 2017
USD USD
106,475 11,652 89,356 9,778
4 (22,534) (2,466)  (11,246) (1,231)
(©)) (€)) (41) (©)
83,933 9,185 78,069 8,543
92,358 10,107 176,907 19,359
92,358 10,107 176,907 19,359
(1,639) (179) 1,856 203
(1,639) (179) 1,856 203
174,652 19,112 256,832 28,105
4 22,534 2,466 11,246 1,231
22,534 2,466 11,246 1,231
197,186 21,578 268,078 29,336
1,016,181 111,201 748,103 81,865

1,213,367 132,779 1,016,181 111,201

9 1,213,367 132,779 1,016,181 111,201

1,213,367 132,779 1,016,181 111,201

15
2018 IFRS 15

18
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309 c/o Maples Corporate Services
Limited, P.0. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman KY1-1104, Cayman Islands

@

IFRS
IFRS 1AS
1ASB

®)

IFRS

©

uSD

161/224



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

@

®

@

@™

@

IFRS

IFRS
IFRS ECL

),

162/224



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

@
O)
(i)
(i)
()
O)
(i)
(i)
(iv)
()

(vi) @
(vin) @(i)

®

IFRS 2018

IFRS 2014 IASB 1AS 39 IFRS
IFRS
IFRS
IAS 39
IFRS IFRS
IFRS 2018
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2.
2017 10 1ASB IFRS 2019
2018
IFRS
IFRS 15 2014 IASB IFRS 15
IFRS 15 IFRS 15
IFRS 15

IFRS 15
IFRS 15 IFRS
2016 IASB IFRS 15 IFRS 15

IFRS 15

IFRS 15 IFRS 15
2018
IFRS 15 IFRS 15

2018
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3.
1ASB IFRS
()
17
4.
2018 2017
22,534 11,246
22,534 11,246
5.
2018 2017
205,000 190,000
205,000 190,000
6.
2018 2017
(1,315) (1,311)
(545) -
(1,860) (1,311)
(3,117) (3,142)
(106,500) (105,033)
(9,590) (2,445)

(119,207) (110, 620)

(121,067) (111,931)
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7.
2020 18
8.
2018 12 31
5,000 2017 5,000 2018 12 31
a
a
(o
CS
CS
J-REIT Fund
us

NB/MYAM REIT
UK
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AMP

us

AMP REIT
J-REIT

US REIT

17-20

5-7

CAT

2018 2017

1,213,367 1,016,181
1,213,367 1,016,181
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10.
2018 2017
206,873 192,723
- 106,500
206,873 299,223
2018 2017
3,735 5,374
3,735 5,374
11.
@
2018 2017

1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000

735,000 735,000 735,000 735,000

®
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®

2018

©

@

HKD

O

2017 12 31

2017 12 31

uSsD

HKD
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13.
a)
2018 12 31 2017 12 31
- 205,000 205,000 - 191,632 191,632
- 205,000 205,000 - 191,632 191,632
- - - 1,871 1,632 3,503
735,000 - 735,000 735,000 - 735,000
735,000 - 735,000 736,871 1,632 738,503
b)
2018 12 31 2017 12 31
- 205,000 205,000 - 190,000 190,000
c)
2018 2017
106,500 105,033

106,500 105,033
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2018
2017
16.
2018
17. 2018 12 31

I1ASB 2018 12
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Credt? Sitier Manopravent (Cayman) Limired
Frmancial Bateednts for the vear ended 11 Decembaer 2008

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for the Year Ended
31 December 2018

Refercnce
b Pl

2018 2017"
Statement of profit or loss (LUSD)
Interest income 23.534 11,246
- of which Interest income from instruments at amortised cost 22,534 11.246
Net interest income’ 4 22,534 11,246
Service Fee Income 5 2005, 000 | S0, 000
Other revenues g 41
Net revenues’ . e 227,542 201,287
Cieneral, administrative and trading expenses 6 (121.067) (111,931
Operating profit before allowance and taxat ion” 106,475 89,356
Profit before tax 106,475 89,356
[neome tax expense T S =X
Profit aflter iax 106,475 B9.356

‘Companive fiperes hine been seclassiiod 10 confiem with ourment year prosentatmos for ihrma oher San Sk b ghicghond a faomoe 2 helow, Fefer 1o Node
15 For Harihier mfrmation.
Pt Coomapanry B iraniafly sgplbed IFRS 13 i) O ai @ | Pamuay D013 Hawevor, comparativg normason |y not resised wder these ramiti os methodi chaws.
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ey Sniase Msmapemarnt (Capman) Limited
Firutmetm tatemeins for the vear endlad 31 Davember 201§

Statement of financial position at 31 December 2018

Raferanos
L
2018 217
Assets (USD)

Lash and due from banks g Laldadel ... LG 8L
Diher assets 10 206,873 290,223
Total assets 1,420,240 1,315,404

_Liabilities (USD)

Oither liabilities 1 3.735 5.374

_Total liahilities 3,735 5374
Sharcholders” equity (USIN)

_Share capital I 735,000 735,000
Retained earnings 681,505 375,030
Total sharehalders” equity 1,416,505 1.310,030
Total liabilities and shareholders” equity 1,420,240 1,315,404

Womparstive Epoes have boen poclumifind 1 conform with cusrerl year prosentasion o itgms ofher than thome highlighsed in footnoty 3 balow. Bafir 0o Nose

U o fartbary infoammation

e Commpany b irtiadly appdiod [FRS 13 mmad 9w | Jangary 2018 However, comparative mibrmat oo st eaed undey thewr tramition methods chosem

. . » . L " . ||a_|}
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on [.?_]" whs| 26 s Poiavciine

Director
Credit Suisse Mang gem

i
i
1 Dircctor
]
)

1731224
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Credir Sutnae Mgnvgessn? fmmar) Diminead’
Finanvial strememts for the vear ewded 31 Dacombar 2008

Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2018

Share  Retained
capital ___ earnings Tatal

2018
2018 Statement of changes in equity (USD)

_Balance af 1 January 2018 735000 575030 1,310,030
Profit for the vear — 106,475 106,475
Balance at 31 December 2018 TAS, 000 681,505 1,416,505
2017
2017 Statement of changes in equity (USD)

_Balance at 1 January 2017 135,000
Proftfortheyear . — 89,356 89,356

Balance at 31 December 2017 I35000 575,030 1,310,030,
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vy Sutare Managpessent (Cayniang Limitve
Frmansia! navements far the vear swded 31 Devember 2018

Statement of cash flow for the year ended 31 December 2018

Relerenis
ﬂ:
2018 2017
Cash flows from operating activities (USD)
Profit for the vear 106,475 89,356
Adjustments to reconcile net profit to net cash
generated from operating activities
Non-cash items included in net profit before tax
_and other adjustments:
Interest income 4 (22,534) {11,246
Unrealised gain and loss (8) (41
Cash generated from before changes in operating
assets and liabilities 83,933 78,069
Met decrease in operating assets:
Other assels 92358 176,907
Net decrease in operating assets 91,358 176,907
Net (decreaselinerease in operating liabilities:
Other liabilities and provisions [1.639) 1.856
Net (decrease)inerease in operating liabilitics (1.63%) 1.856
Income tlaxes paid — —
Net cash generated from aperating activities 174,652 256,832
Cash flows from financing activities (USD)
Interest income 4 22,534 11,246
Net cash generated from financing activities 22,534 11,246
Net inerense in cash and cash equivalents 197,186 268078
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year 1,016,181 T48,103
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year
(USDy 1,213,367 1,016,181
Cash and due from banks G 1,283,367 1.006,181
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of vear 1,213,367 1,016,181

Crmpastive figures havg bean reclass Sod b gonfoen wilh furreol yoar prosen sion for items othor than thow kightipherd in Sotsoie 2 belaw Rrferto ot
B¥ B Randsy b Raraios
Tt Conmpary haw insnally spplied RS [$and Fas @ | Jensary 318 Hewgwpr, comgaraiive i ormtion is nof restsed snder fhavi tranidtion mathod choum.
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Credlar Suiise Nomagemeend (Caymman) Limited
Finamciol wesemenn fir tee year eaded 7 Dreember 205

MNotes to the financial statements

Principal activities

Credit Suisse Management {Cavman) Limited (the “Company™} is incorporated in the Cayman [slands
with limited ligbilit. The Companys principal activities are the creation of trusts and the
administration and management of assets in the trusts. The Company’s registered office is /o Maples
Corporate Services Limited, P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman K'Y 1-1104, Cayman Islands.

Significant Accounting Policies
Statement of compliance

These financial stsements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable |nternational Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), which collective term includes afl applicable individual International
Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards {*1A5s™) and [nterpretations issued
by International Accounting Standards Boerd (“IASB"). A summary of the significant accounting
policies adopted by the Company is set out below,

Basils of preparation of the financial statements
The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical cost basis,

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management 10 make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of
assels, labilities, income and expenses.  The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates ar¢ recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, of in the peried of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Farelgn currency

The company’s functional and presentation currency is US Dollars (USD). Foreign currency
transactions during the year are translated inte United States Dollars at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
into United States Dollars at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Exchange gains and losses are recognised in the prodit or loss,

Mon-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are translated into United States Dollars using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates,
Mon-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are
transkated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined. Foreign
currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss.,
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Credi Saesr Mpeaprmend [Coyman) Liited
Fraaweion tialmants G the v endvd B Dincvmber 305

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Cash and cash equivalenis

Cashand cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand with banks, and short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of eash and which are subject 1o an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.

{hher asseis

Chher assets are initially recognised at fair value and thereafier stated at amontised ¢ost less allowance
for impairment of doubtful debts (see note 2(g)), except where the receivables are interest-free loans
made to related parties without any fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be
immaterial. Insuch cases, the receivables are stated at cost less impairment for bad and doubiful debis,

Provisions and contingent Habilifes

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Company has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be reguired to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate cash be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to
setile the obligation,

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amoum cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote, Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence of non-eccurrence of one or mere flture events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Trpairement

The carrying amount of the Company’s assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
determine whether there is any objective evidence of impairment. [fany such objective evidence exists,
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated at the end of each reporting period. An impairment loss is
recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds 15 recoverable amount.  Impairment
losses are recognised in the profit or loss.

Under IFRS 9, the new impairment requirements apply primarily to financial assets measured at
amortised cost. The impairment requirements have changed from an incurred loss model under IFRS 9
1o an expected credin loss ("ECL™) model under IFRS 9 by incorporating reasonable and supportable
forecasts of fulure ecomomic conditions available at the reporting date. The adoption of this does ne
have a material impact to the Company's financial statements,

Revere recognition

Pravided that it is probable thar the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the revenue and
costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably. management fee income is recognised in profit or loss
when the investment management service is provided.
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e Suinar Maragenien fCiwan) Limimed'
Funangial sratensemis for the year sncded 31 December 3018

2. Significant Accounting Policies {continued)
i Expenses

All expenses are recognised in profit and loss on an-accrual basis.,
il Relared parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, a party is considered to be related to the Company if:
{a) A person, or @ close member of that person’s family, is related to the Company if that person:
{i}  has contrel or joint centrol ever the Company;
{if}  has significant influence over the Company; or
(it}  is a member of the key management personnel of the Company or the Company's parent.

tb}  An entity is related 1o the Company if any of the following conditions applies:

(i}  The entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others),

(if)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity {or an associate or joint venture
of 2 member of a group of which the other entity is 2 member),

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party,

(ivl  One entity is a joint venture of a third party and the other entity is an associate of the third
party.

(vi  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the
Company or an entity related 1o the Company.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vil) A person idemtified in (a)i) has significam influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity ).

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

k) Stendards aied Interpretations effective in the current period
The Company has adopted the following amendments in the current year:
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments {effective | January 2018)

[FRS 9 Financial Instruments: In July 2014, the IASE issued IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments’ {IFRS @)
as a complete standard which replaces IAS 39, The Standard includes requirements for recognition and
measurement, impairment, derecognition and general hedge accounting. The Company elected, as a
policy choice permitted under IFRS 9, to continue fo apply hedge accounting in accordance with TAS
39, until a1 the latest the requirements on macro hedging are finalised and released. The amendments to
[FRS T "Financial Instruments: Disclosures” resulting from IFRS 9 also require new disclosures as well
as the revision of current disclosure requirements. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on
or after | January 2018,

In October 2017, the LASE issued Prepayments Features with Negative Compensation { Amendments
o IFRS ). The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2019, with
early adoption permitted. The Company vearly adopted this amendment as at | January 2018,
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Crochir Swizse Mamegenen (Cayeman) Limires
Financial sremen for e pear ended 1) December 2018

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of [FRS 9 are generally applied
retrospectively; however the Company has taken advantage of the exemption allowing it not (o restate
comparative information for prior perieds.

The adoption of this amendments does not have a material impact to the Companys financial stalements.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers: In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15 ‘Revenue
from Contracts with Customers” (IFRS 15} IFRS |5 establishes a single, comprehensive framework
for revenue recognition. The core principle of IFRS 15 requires that an entity recognise révenue to
depiet the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration 1o which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. [FRS
15 also includes disclosure requirements that enable users of financial statements o understand the
nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers.
IFRS 15 replaces existing revenue guidance in IFRS,

In April 2016, the IASE issued Clarifications to IFRS 15 *Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
{Clarifications to IFRS 13), The Clarifications to IFRS 15 are intended to address implementation
questions that were discussed by the Joint Transition Resource Group for Revenue Recognition on
livenses of intellectual property, identifying performance ohligations, principal versus agent application
guidance and ransition.  IFRS 15 and Clarifications to I[FRS 15 are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018,

The Company adopted the guidance in IFRS 15 and Clarifications 1o IFRS 15 on | January 2018 using
the cumulative effect transition approach with a transition adjustment recognised in retained earnings
withoul restating comparatives. As a result of adoption, Company did not have any material changes
due to timing of the recognition of certain fees. In assessing whether an entity's promises to transfer
goods or services 1o the customer are separately identifiable, the objective is to determine whether the
nature of the promise, within the context of the contract, is to transfer each of those goods or services
individually or, instead, to transfer a combined item or items to which the promised goods or services
are inputs. As a result of the Company assessment of performance obligations within advisory contracts,
the Company idemified changes in the timing of the recognition of certain fees in the nvestment
banking capital markets business,

Changes in Accounting Policies

The IASE has issued a number of amendments to IFRSs that are first effective for the current accounting
period of the Company. Mone of these developments have had & material effect on how the Company's
results and financial position for the current or prior periods have been prepared or presented in Note
2(k).

The Company has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the currem
accounting period (Mote 17).
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Credi Suigee Mawagemirs (Caymea) Limited
Financial e nsem Jor e war eedad 31 December 2018

Net Interest income

2018 2017
Net Interest Income (USD)
Interest income on cash and due from banks 22,534 11,246
Interest income 23,534 11,246

All the above interest income on instruments are at emortised cost,
Service Fee Income

The principal activities of the Company are the creation of trusts and the administration and
management of assets in trusts,

Revenue represents investment management fee income earned from fellow subsidiary as follows:

2018 017
Revenues (LIS
Service Fee Income 205,000 190,000
Total revenues 205,000 140,000
General, Administrative and Trading Expenses
2018 2017
General, administrative and trading expenses (USD)

Other commission expenses (1.315) (1,311
Bank charges {545) =
_Trading expenses (1,860 (1,311}
Auditor remuneration (3,117) (3,142}
Drirectors' remuneration {106, 500) (105,033)
Professional Services (5,560 (2.445)
Gieneral and administrative expenses (119,207 (110,620
Total general, administrative and trading expenses {121,067 (111.%31)

All of the above expenditures are payable to the Company's immediate holding company and the
immediate holding company settles such expenditures on behalf of the Company,

Taxation

There are no taxes on income or gaing in the Cavman Islands and the Company has received an
undertaking from the Governor in Council of the Cayman Islands exempting it from all local income,
profits and capital taxes until 1§ January 2020. Accordingly, no provision for income taxes is included
in these financial statements,
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Credit Swisse Monagessent (Caymam) Limited
Finamcial anmemens for the year emied’ 1] Devember 208

Uneonsolidated Structured Entities
Spansoved inconsolidated struciured entities

The Company considers ftsell’ the sponsor of a structured entity when either its name appears in the
name of the structured entity or in products issued by it or there is a general expectation from the market
that the Company is nssociated with the structured entity or the Company was involved in the design or
set up of the structured entity and has a form of involvement with the structured entity. For
unconsolidated structured emtities that were sponsored by the Company butl no interest was held, the
Company did not receive investment management fees from these entities during the repaorting period
and no assets were transferred to these entities,

The below unconsolidated structured entities are sponsored by the Company where no management fee
is received and no interest is held by the Company as at 31 December 2018:

HOLT® Japan Incone Plus Strategy Fund (For Quealified Institutional Investors Only)

The below unconsolidated structured entities are sponsored by the Company where a fixed annual

management fee of USD 5,000 (2017: USD 5,000) is received but no interest is held by the Company
as at 31 December 2008

Asia Equity Income Plus Strategy Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only}
Global REIT Income Alpha Fund (For Cualified [nstitutional Investors Only) i
Australian High Dividend Equity Twin Alpha Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Orllj}
LS REIT Premium Fund (Fer Qualified Institutional Investors Cinly)

Daiwa Australian High Dividend Equity Alpha Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only}
Principal / CS Canadian Equity Income Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)

CS Global REIT Triple Premium Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)

S High Dividend Equity Premiuin Pund (For Quallfied Instiarional lnvestoes Only)

LS Small Cap Equity Premium Fund (For Qualified Institional Investors Only)

Daiwa Emerging Local Markﬂ Bund Fund (For Qualified Instinutional Investors Only)

Us Fm!‘e_nj-ed_m:.lT Iru:ume Fund [FurQuaJ:ﬁad Insmutmm] inmtﬁfsi}n!y}
Japan Equity Premium F”{‘d QF‘?" Qualified .'“3‘.'_'!“11'“!“.1 Investars Cinly)

Eure Stock Premium Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)
NBMYAM US REIT Income Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)
Daiwa UK H:yi quldend Equity Fund (For Quﬂl:l'ed Inshlutmm.l Investors Omly)
AMP Australia Income Bond Fund {Fur Qualified Institutional Investors Only)
Brazil Equity Alpha Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)

Daiwa Brazilian Real Bond Fund {(For Qualified insmu:mml Invelm Only}
LIS ‘-.‘nlur.: Equs:y Cﬂmenlmled Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only}
Nissay Japan Equity Active Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)
AMP Australia REIT Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)

J-REIT and Real Estate Equity Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)
Shinsei European Bond Fund (For Qualified Institutional [nvestors Only)
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Credr Sniaae Mrwaggernersd {Caymman] Linited
Fingmeiim! siavements Jor the yeor snded 31 December 2008

Uneonsolidated Structured Entities {continued)

Dulm Amzrlcan High Dividend Equity Quattro Income Fund (For Quallﬁ.td Institutional [nvestors

Onlvy e
Daiwa American R.E]T Quam-n Imnm: Fund {an thuf'ed lnstrtu,numl Investars Only)

US REIT Triple Engjn: Pius Furld {Fm- Qualified msnmm:m.n.ls Investors ﬂn_;} .

.Llpa.msc Government Bond I'F-ZDI Year Ladder Fund (For Qualified |n5|:|luti|;mal Investors Dniy'_l
Australia REIT Fund

Ausualm REIT Plus Fund .

LIS Treasury 5- '|" "r'emr Lﬂ.dd.e:' Fund {Fur Quallﬁtd Inqlltulmml Inveslnrs Dnl;.-’j

US Municipal Bond F_q_n_q
Tokio Marine CAT Bond Fund )
Downside Control Equity Fund (For Quealified | Imtmllloml lmrm ;
GJDbﬂl High Dmd:nd | Equity Premium Fund (For € Quallred Insluu
Meister's Collection

The Company has not provided financial or other support to consolidated structured entities that it was
not contractually required to provide.,

The Company does nod currently have the intention to provide financial or other suppart 1o
unconsolidated structured entities that it is not contractually required to provide.

Cash and Due from Banks

Cash and cash equivalfents comprive:

2018 07
Cash and doe from banks (UISD)
Cash and due from banks 1,213,367 1,016,181
Total cash and due from banks 1,213,367 1,016,181
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10, Other Assets and Other Liabilities

2018 2017
Other assets (ST
Interest and fees receivable 206,873 192,723
Others i |05, 500
_Total other assets 206873 399233
208 1017
Ovther linbilities (LIS
lnterest and fees pavable 3.735 3374
Total ather liabilities 3,735 5374
11. Share Capital
fa) Authorised amid issued share capital
plI1E ] 2017
Mo, of shares USD No. of shares UspD
Authorised:
Ordinary shares of USD | each 1. O0HD (0D 1000000 1,004,000 1. 00,000
Mssued and fully paid up:
Ordinary shares 735,000 735000 135,000 735,000

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled 1o receive dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at general meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally
with regard to the Company s residual assets.

] Capital mamagement

The Company's primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders, by pricing
services commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.
As the Company is part of a larger group, the Company's sources of additional capital and policies for
distribution of excess capital may also be affected by the group's capital management objectives. The
Company defines “capital” as inctuding all components of equity.

The Company's capital structure 15 regulary reviewed and managed with due regard to the capital
management practices of the group 1o which the Company belongs. Adjustments are made to the capital
structure in light of changes in economic conditions affecting the Company or the group, to the extent
thal 1hese do not conflict with the directors” fiduciary duties towards the Company,

The Company was not subject to externally imposed capital requirements in the current period.
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12.  Financial Risk Management and Fair Values

Exposure 1o credit, liquidity, interest rate and foreign currency risks arizses in the normal course of the
Company's business. These risks are managed by the Company's financial management policies and
practices described below.

(@) Credis risk

The Company's credit risk is primarily attributable to amounts due from group companies and cash al
bank. Cradit risk is defined as risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss 1o
another party by failing 1o discharge an obligation. Management regularly monitors its risk exposure
to ensure that its credit risk is kept to a minimal level. The maximum exposure to credit risk is
represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the statement of financial position after
deducting any impairment allowance.

] Liguildity risk

The Company's policy is to regularly monitor its gquidity requirements to satisfy its confractual and
reasonably foreseeable obligations as they fall due.

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, all of the Company”s financial Habilities, which includes all creditors
and accrils, are on demand or undated and are expected (o be settled within three months.

fc) Trterest rite risk

The Company is exposed 1o interest rate risk only to the extent that it earns bank interest on cash and
deposits. At 31 December 2018 and 2017, a change in interest rates would have no direet material
effect on the carrying value of the recognised assets or liabilities of the Company,

(el Farelgn currency risk

The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily through certain transactions which give rise
1o pavables that are denominated in Hong Kong dollars ("HED™).

As the HKD is pegged to the United States dollar (“USD™), the Company considers that the risk of
movements in exchange rates between the USD and the HKD to be insignificant.

fe) Falr valies

The carrying amounts of the Company™s financial instruments carried at cost o amortised cost are not
matesially different from their fair value as at 31 December 2018,
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Material Related Party Transactions

In addition 1o the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the
Company entered into the following material related party transactions

) Related party balance sheet transactions

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the
Company enered into the following material related party transactions in the norma| course of business

31 Decemiser 2018 M Decembser 2017
Parent Fellow Total Parent Fellow Total

Ciroup Giroup

Coampanies Companies
Aysgts (USTH
Other assets. - 205,000 205000 — 191,632 191632
Mgl asscts = RO, FOEN00 = 19,653 191658
Limbilities and Equity
(LS
Other liabilitics = - — 1LE71 1,432 3.503
Share cagital T35 N} - T35, (00 T35 0 — T35 000
Todal liabilities and

TA5, 000 — TIE 00 T HTI 1632 TAES03

sharcholiders” equity

b) Related party revenues and expenses
3 December 2008 31 December 2017

Fellow Fellow
Group Group
Parenl  Campanies Todal Parent  Companics Total
Other revenues
LS
Dither revenuss — 205006 205,410 — 15D 190,000

¢) Remuneration of Key Mamigement Personnel

Remuneration of Key Massgeosenl Persaanc (1750 2018 m7
Short:berm employee benefits | W3, S0HD 105,033
Tatal B dien of ey M nt Perssnnel 106, 5000 10&,033
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Parent and Ultimate Holding Company

At 31 December 2018, the immediate parent of the Company is Credit Suisse (Hong Kong) Limited,
which is incorporated in Hong Kong and the ultimate controlling party of the Company is Credit Suisse
Group AG, which is incorporated in Switzerland. Credit Suisse Group AG produces financial
statements available for public use.

Reclassification of Comparative Figures
The Company financials have not been re-stated.

In 2018, the Company being a financial institution, has changed its présentation from current and non-
current assets’ liabilities to the order of liquidity as it provides more relevant information. [n addition,
the Company has alse amended the presentation of its statement of income as it provides further
information of revenues and expenses. On account of this change in presentation, the comparative
amounts have been reclassified 1o conform to the current vear's presentation, The presentation is now
in line with that of similar entities within the CS Group as it enhances the comparability of the financial
statements. Refer to 2017 financial statements for amounts of each item or class of items presented
under the erstwhile presentation.

Non-Adjusting Events after the Reporting Period

There are no material non-adjusting events for 2018,

Possible Impact of Amendments, New Standards and Interpretations issued but not vet
effective for the year ended 31 December 2018

Uip to the date of issue of these financial siatements, the IASE has issued a number of amendments and

new gtandards and interpretations which are not yet effective for the yesr ended 31 December 2013 and
which have not been adopted in these financial statements.
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D) (Elian Trustee (Cayman) Limited)

2020 100 943

Intertrust N.V.

@) (SMT Fund Services
(Ireland) Limited)

2020
62,992,338 80 5,735
2020 28
120.32
2018
1
1995
(€) Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited London

Branch
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2003
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1990
2000 27
2006 16
El4 4QJ +44
(0)20 7888 8888
1990 16
Credit Suisse AG
50
@) DS
2020 20
2019
DS
300
2018 12
7.4 9.5
D) (Elian Trustee (Cayman) Limited)
@) (SMT Fund Services
(Ireland) Limited)
€)) (Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited (London

Branch))
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Independent Auditors® Report to the Trustee

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Meister®s Collection (the "Series Trust™), a series
trust of Credit Suisse Universal Trust (Cayman) Il (the "Master Trust"), which comprise the statement of
financial position as at October 31, 2019, the statements of comprehensive income, changes in net assets
attributable to the holder of redeemable participating units, and cash flows for the period from September 28,
2018 (commencement of operations) to October 31, 2019, and notes comprising a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Series Trust as at October 31, 2019, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the for the period from
September 28, 2018 (commencement of operations) to October 31, 2019 in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“'l1FRS™).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs™). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the "Auditors® Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Series Trust in accordance with International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants ("IESBA Code'™) together with
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Series Trust"s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Series Trust or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Series Trust®s financial reporting process.
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Independent auditors® report to the Trustee (continued)

Auditors® Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors” report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit We also:

e ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud 1is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Series Trust"s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management®s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Series Trust"s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors® report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors® report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Series Trust to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

February 28, 2020
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Independent auditor®s report to the board of directors of
Credit Suisse Management (Cayman) Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Credit Suisse Management (Cayman) Limited (the

“ Company” ) set out on pages 4 to 18, which comprise the statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2018, the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income and the
statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash flow for the year then ended and notes
to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Company as at 31 December 2018 and of its financial performance and its cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standard

¢ IFRS" ).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (* 1SAs” ).
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor®s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (* IESBA Code” ) together with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the
Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Information other than the financial statements and auditor®s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all
the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our
auditor®s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement

of this other information; we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.
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Independent auditor®s report to the board of directors of
Credit Suisse Management (Cayman) Limited (continued)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Responsibilities of the directors® for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with IFRS and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the
Company”s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Auditor®™s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor”s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with I1SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the Audit. We also:

- ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company®s internal control.
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Independent auditor®s report to the board of directors of
Credit Suisse Management (Cayman) Limited (continued)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Auditor®s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors® use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company®s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor®s report to the related disclosures in
the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as
a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince"s Building

10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong
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